FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/19/2025 1:28 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 103983-2

Court of Appeals, Division I No. 86862-4-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Akberet Tekle,

Petitioner,

v.

State of Washington Department of Social and Health Services,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Benjamin Justus LYBECK PEDREIRA & JUSTUS, PLLC 7900 SE 28th Street Mercer Island, WA 98040 Phone: (206) 687-7805

Fax: (206) 230-7791 ben@lpjustus.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents a question of law of substantial public interest upon which the lower courts are divided. On November 30, 2019, a resident of Akberet Tekle's Adult Family Home ("AFH") named Carl woke up at about 5:00 a.m., per usual. Tekle came in to assist him and found that he had become incontinent. Therefore, she removed his clothing, cleaned his body and sat him down in his wheelchair. She then left his bedroom to dispose of his soiled items and prepare a bath for him. Leaving Carl momentarily unattended in his bedroom was consistent with his care plan because he did not require "one-to-one" care or "line of sight" supervision.

Although Carl had never before attempted to exit the AFH through the front door using his wheelchair, on November 30, he did. Because Tekle was either outside by the trash or inside the bathroom running a shower, she did not hear the front door alarm sound. She searched for Carl throughout the various bedrooms of the AFH. Carl was soon found on a sidewalk by a cul-de-sac,

less than 100 feet away. At most, he was outside for about 20 minutes before he was found and safely returned to the AFH.

Based on this relatively brief and harmless incident, DSHS imposed a finding of "neglect" under the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act ("AVAA"). Such findings present gravely serious consequences for Tekle and many other caregivers, who are placed on a public registry for life, foreclosing the possibility of future employment in many occupations and settings.

The finding was upheld by the DSHS Board of Appeals and the Court of Appeals, despite witness testimony and other precedent which established that AFH resident elopement occurs regularly and does not merit such a severe sanction. Even in at least one case of *a fatal fall after a resident's repeated elopements from an AFH*, DSHS and the Court of Appeals did not find neglect against the AFH provider. But the Court of Appeals herein below did.

Considering the career-ending consequences of neglect findings, the decision below has a substantial public impact upon

the rights of scores of vulnerable adults and caregivers, and it is imperative that this Court provide guidance to lower courts applying the neglect provision of the AVAA in future cases. It also stands in conflict with several other Court of Appeals decisions regarding the standards of neglect. This Court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Akberet Tekle, Appellant below ("Tekle"), asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision that is designated in Part III of this petition.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Tekle requests review of the February 18, 2025, decision of the Court of Appeals, Division One, affirming a DSHS finding that she neglected a vulnerable adult in violation of Chapter 74.34 RCW. A copy of the decision is included in the appendix hereto.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of

Appeals' construction of the AVAA presents a question of substantial public interest?

Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals decision below is in conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions regarding the construction of the AVAA?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Since 1999, Tekle has worked as caregiver for elderly patients in various settings. Agency Record (hereinafter "AR") 000161. In 2008, Tekle opened an Adult Family Home ("AFH") in Vancouver, WA called St. Mary's Adult Family Home. *Id.* In 2019, she opened a second AFH, Orchard's Family Home ("Orchard's"). *Id.* Tekle had DSHS-sanctioned specialty training in mental health and dementia. *Id.* Neither of Tekle's AFH licenses have been subject to license revocation, summary suspension, or stop placement of admissions. AR000164.

Carl was admitted to Orchard's on or about September 12, 2019. AR000161. Carl had been living in a different AFH before, but he was not allowed to return to that AFH due to his challenging behaviors. AR000162; AR000288-289. Carl's

aggressive and challenging behaviors continued after his admission to Orchard's. RP Vol. I, at 36-37, 42. Carl frequently became agitated and knocked against and kicked doors, walls and other objects, resulting in observed abrasions and bruising to his feet, knees and legs. AR000162; AR000329; AR000208; AR000210.

Carl was known to Tekle and others to seek to exit Orchard's (although "Exit Seeking" was not indicated as an issue in his Assessment). AR000162; AR000322. However, Carl's typical behavior was to seek to exit through the back door, into a fenced backyard, where he imagined that he was going to "feed his chickens." RP Vol. II, at 131. Before the events at issue here, Carl had never attempted on his own to exit through the front door at Orchard's. *Id.*, at 130. Nor had he ever attempted to exit while using his wheelchair. *Id.*, at 131.

As of November 30, 2019, Tekle had two separate alarms in place to militate against the risk that Carl and other residents could elope from Orchard's. First, she used a bed alarm

connected to a portable device that would alert staff if Carl got out of his bed unattended. RP Vol. II, at 129-130, Vol. I, at 73-74. Second, she had an alarm on the front door that would sound when the door was opened. RP Vol. I, at 37, 73-74.

On the evening of November 29, 2019, and into the following morning, both Tekle and her husband, Habtom Negusse, were on duty at Orchard's. RP Vol. II, at 131-32, Vol. I, at 63-64. Carl was put to bed around 8:00 p.m.. RP Vol. II, at 132. At about 3:00 a.m., Tekle heard the bed alarm and she checked on Carl. *Id*. At his request, they went outside to the back porch, where they remained for a short time until Carl went back to bed. *Id*.

Carl next awoke at about 5:00 a.m., which was consistent with his typical habits, and Tekle checked on him then. *Id.*, at 132-133. Negusse testified that around this time he saw Tekle inside Carl's bedroom talking with Carl as he walked past the room. RP Vol. I., at 64-66.

Tekle found that Carl had become incontinent and soiled

himself. RP Vol. II, at 133. After Tekle cleaned Carl and removed his soiled diaper, she placed him in his wheelchair. *Id.* She left Carl's bedroom to discard soiled items in the trash outside, and then went to a bathroom to start a shower for him. *Id.* Tekle estimated that she was away from Carl's bedroom for approximately five minutes. *Id.*, at 133-134, 148-149. She did not hear the front door alarm sound during this time. *Id.*, at 138. Negusse, who was then upstairs, also did not hear the alarm. RP Vol. I, at 67-68.

When Tekle returned to the bedroom Carl was not there. RP Vol. II, at 134. She immediately went throughout the house, searching for Carl, going in and out of the various resident rooms and common areas. *Id.* A few minutes later, someone knocked on the front door. *Id.*, at 134-135. This was Samantha Boyer, who lived at a neighboring address, 9916 NE 116th Ct. AR000162. Boyer told Tekle that she had found Carl outside her home, across a cul-de-sac from Orchard's. RP Vol. II, at 134-135.

Tekle immediately looked across the cul-de-sac and saw that Carl was sitting in his wheelchair on a sidewalk, less than 100 feet from Orchard's. *Id.*, at 135-138; AR000235-238, AR000240-245; AR000239. Tekle brought Carl back inside Orchard's, dressed him, and evaluated him. RP Vol. II, at 140. Carl's temperature, blood pressure, pulse and oxygen levels were normal, and he had no apparent wounds or blood on his hands or legs. *Id.*, at 141-142. Three emergency medical technicians (EMTs) arrived at Orchard's after Tekle had returned with Carl. RP Vol. II, at 140-141. The EMTs briefly spoke with Carl in his room, had no apparent concern for his health, and left. *Id.*

Tekle investigated why she had not heard the door alarm sound when Carl had exited through the front door. *Id.*, at 138-139. She removed the door alarm from the wall and determined that it had an adjustable volume setting, which she did not know about before. *Id.* She then raised the volume to the maximum level. *Id.*, at 140.

Just four days later, on December 4, 2019, a nurse, Linda Conrad, RN, came to Orchard's and did a "head-to-toe" evaluation of Carl. RP Vol. I, at 43-45; AR000328-330. Conrad later testified that the injuries she observed did not require stitches, were "superficial," and were consistent with those she had seen both before and after this visit that were related to Carl's habit of kicking objects during his agitation episodes. RP Vol. I, at 45-46.

Beginning on or about December 3, 2019, Adult Protective Services (APS) investigator Mary Boyd began investigating an intake report related to Carl. AR000278-280, AR000281-292. Boyd spoke with Carl's legal representative, Peggy Thomas, on multiple occasions. AR000163; AR000284. Thomas told Ms. Boyd - and Shawn Swanstrom of DSHS's Residential Care Services (RCS) - that Carl had done well at Orchard's, and she had no concerns regarding his safety. *Id.*; RP Vol. I, at 79-80. Boyd also spoke with Carl's physician, who had no concerns for Carl's placement in Tekle's care. AR000163;

AR000287.

Beginning on or about December 12, 2019, Swanstrom investigated one or more complaints related to Carl. AR000163; AR000331-332. On December 26, 2019, RCS imposed conditions on the Orchard's AFH license as follows: "[e]ffective immediately, the adult family home (AFH), at its own expense, must provide two caregivers, 24 hours a day, seven days a week, to provide care to residents while [Carl] resides in the AFH, and when providing care to any residents with assessed and known exit-seeking and/or wandering behaviors." AR000163-164; AR000232. No similar requirement of two caregivers was in effect as of November 30, 2019. AR000164; RP Vol. I, at 81-82. In addition, Carl was not documented to require a dedicated caregiver, "one-to-one" care, or "sitter" care. RP Vol. II, at 128, Vol I., at 43.

APS offered to move Carl to another residential facility, but Carl and Thomas declined this offer and elected to have Carl stay at Orchard's. AR000337; RP Vol. II, at 111. He remained

there until he died in September 2020. RP Vol. II, at 150-151.

In a June 5, 2020, notice, DSHS/APS charged Tekle with statutory neglect in connection with Carl, alleging as follows:

On or about November 30, 2019, while acting as a paid care provider, you failed to provide the vulnerable adult with necessary safety precautions and/or supervision and as a result the vulnerable adult was found outside in below freezing weather, fell out of his wheelchair and was screaming for assistance. The neighbor heard the screams and came to assist the vulnerable adult.

AR000293-301.

Tekle timely appealed from the June 5, 2020, finding. AR000368-373. A hearing on Tekle's appeal was conducted by Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Michael Mowery on February 14 and 18, 2022. *See* RP Vols. I, II. After the hearing, ALJ Mowery affirmed the DSHS finding of neglect pursuant to a May 9, 2022, Initial Order entered under Docket No. 06-2020-LIC-02958 (hereinafter "Initial Order"). AR000117-141.

On May 24, 2022, Tekle filed a Petition for Review regarding the Initial Order. AR000041-116. DSHS did not

respond to the Petition for Review.

On July 5, 2022, the DSHS Board of Appeals ("Board") issued a Review Decision and Final Order (hereinafter "Final Order") affirming the ALJ's Initial Order and DSHS's prior finding of neglect. AR000001-37.

On July 25, 2022, Tekle filed with the Superior Court a Petition for Judicial Review. CP 3-49. On December 1, 2023, the Superior Court entered an order which certified and transferred this matter for direct review by the Court of Appeals, pursuant to RCW 34.05.518. CP 74-75.

After briefing was filed, and after oral argument was heard on January 8, 2025, the Court of Appeals issued an February 18, 2025, unpublished opinion affirming the Board's decision.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Accept Review Because Tekle's Case Presents a Question of Substantial Public Interest.

This Court should accept Tekle's petition for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because his case presents a question

of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. This Court has said that a "decision that has the potential to affect several proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016); see also State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Cases that address the interpretation of an important statute in a context not limited to its facts are typically considered worthy of review based on their potential to affect the public interest. In re Pers. Restraint of Mines, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 And this Court has previously held that P.3d 535 (2002). "suspected abuse of a nursing home patient" is a matter of public concern. White v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 11, 929 P.2d 396 (1997).

A finding of neglect is professionally disqualifying for the person charged since they are placed on a permanent DSHS "registry" of abuse/neglect "perpetrators". RCW 74.39A.056(3); WAC 388-103-0170. Placement on the registry prevents the

person's future employment in a position or holding a license that involves the care of vulnerable adults or children or from working or volunteering in a position giving them unsupervised access to vulnerable adults or children. RCW 74.39A.056(2); WAC 388-76-10120(3)-10180(1); RCW 26.44.100(2)(c), .125(2)(e); WAC 388-06A-0110.

As such, the Court of Appeals has held that constitutional rights are implicated in DSHS abuse/neglect findings and related proceedings since it is "clearly established that State action that imposes a stigma that alters an individual's eligibility to exercise rights under state law or to work in a chosen field implicates protected liberty interests." *Ryan v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs.*, 171 Wn. App. 454, 471-472, 287 P.3d 629 (2012) (citing *Ritter v. Bd. of Comm'rs*, 96 Wn.2d 503, 511, 637 P.2d 940 (1981) (interest in standing and associations in the community is protected by the Fourteenth Amendment, from state's charge (citing *Bd. of Regents v. Roth*, 408 U.S. 564, 573, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 33 L. Ed. 2d 548 (1972) (reputational harm must be coupled with

impairment of rights and opportunities under state law))); Erickson v. United States ex rel. Dep't of Health & Human Servs., 67 F.3d 858, 863 (9th Cir. 1995) (protectable liberty interest in serving as a participating health care provider under Medicare could be violated by state publication of erroneous disqualifying facts); Dittman v. California, 191 F.3d 1020, 1029 (9th Cir. 1999) (characterizing the liberty interest in pursuit of one's occupation or profession across a broad range of lawful occupations as "'well-recognized'" (quoting Wedges/Ledges of Cal., Inc. v. City of Phoenix, 24 F.3d 56, 65 (9th Cir. 1994)))).

The need for these liberty interests to be adequately protected through adjudicatory proceedings is heightened in view of a recent decision of the Court of Appeals holding that, under existing DSHS regulations, AFH caregivers such as Tekle who are placed on the DSHS registry have no right to later petition for removal from it. *See Romero v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 30 Wn. App. 2d 323, 544 P.3d 1083 (2024). As a result, "DSHS regulations permanently disqualify the nursing

assistants [who had worked in AFHs] from working with vulnerable adults by making it impossible for them to be removed from the vulnerable adult abuse registry." *Romero*, 30 Wn. App. 2d at 344 (alteration supplied). The *Romero* Court's decision issued despite its expressing serious concern that the current DSHS regulatory regime regarding its registry entails potential due process violations. *Id.*, at 343-344.

Under RCW 74.34.020(15):

"Neglect" means (a) a pattern of conduct or inaction by a person or entity with a duty of care that fails to provide the goods and services that maintain physical or mental health of a vulnerable adult, or that fails to avoid or prevent physical or mental harm or pain to a vulnerable adult; or (b) an act or omission by a person or entity with a duty of care serious that demonstrates a disregard consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety, including but not limited to conduct prohibited under RCW 9A.42.100.

As the Court of Appeals below noted, "'Serious disregard' and 'clear and present danger' are not further defined by the statute." Slip Op., at 8.

There is one prior Supreme Court decision regarding "neglect" under the AVAA, Raven v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 177 Wn.2d. 804, 306 P.3d 920 (2013). But Raven concerned the "'pattern of conduct' prong of the neglect definition," rather than the second prong regarding neglect resulting from "an act or omission by a person or entity with a duty of care that demonstrates a serious disregard of consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety... "See Raven, 177 Wn.2d at 829 (citing former RCW 74.34.020(12)). Indeed, the Court of Appeals below held that Raven was "distinguishable". Slip Op., at 9.

Therefore, Tekle's case presents a case of first impression as to the proper construction of neglect resulting from "an act or omission..." under RCW 74.34.020(15)(b). A decision in this case would have a substantial public impact upon the rights of scores of vulnerable adults and caregivers alike, and it is therefore important for this Court to provide guidance to lower

courts applying RCW 74.34.020(15)(b) in future cases.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Below is in Conflict with other Court of Appeals' Decisions regarding the Definition of Neglect.

When there are conflicts between divisions of the Court of Appeals, they are resolved by review before the Washington Supreme Court. *In re Pers. Restraint of Arnold*, 190 Wn.2d 136, 410 P.3d 1133 (2018). The Court of Appeals decision herein below conflicts with several prior decisions from Divisions One, Two and Three.

As an initial matter, it is no moment that the decision below is unpublished. *See*, *e.g.*, *Comm'r. v. McCoy*, 484 U.S. 3, 7, 108 S. Ct. 217, 98 L. Ed. 2d 2 (1987) ("[T]he fact that the Court of Appeals' order under challenge here is unpublished carries no weight in [the Court's] decision to review the case.") In Washington, courts and litigants may cite unpublished opinions to show that a legal issue is so well-settled that it does not warrant a published ruling, *State v. Hixson*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1450, at *11 n.8 (July 31, 2023) (unpublished), or for

estoppel or res judicata purposes. *Johnson v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 126 Wn. App. 510, 520 n.7, 108 P.3d 1273 (2005).

In Brown v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 190 Wn. App. 572, 360 P.3d 875 (2015), Division Three reversed and vacated a finding of neglect that DSHS had made against the mother of an injured child under the abuse of children act ("ACA"). The statutory definition of "abuse or neglect" at issue in *Brown* was substantially similar to that at issue here because the pertinent portion of that definition incorporated by reference a second definition, of "negligent treatment or maltreatment," that read: "'[n]egligent treatment or maltreatment' means an act or a failure to act, or the cumulative effects of a pattern of conduct, behavior, or inaction, that evidences a serious disregard of consequences of such magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to a child's health, welfare, or safety, including but not limited to conduct prohibited under RCW 9A.42.100." *Brown*, 190 Wn. App. at 588-589 (citing former

RCW 26.44.020(1), $(16)^1$; court's emphasis).

Based on a detailed analysis of the statutory language and other precedents, the *Brown* court ultimately concluded that the words employed in the statutory definition of "negligent treatment or maltreatment" – specifically including the terms "serious disregard of consequences" and "clear and present danger" - meant that DSHS could not invoke a "reasonable person" standard and could not sanction a person for "neglect" based on conduct amounting to simple negligence. *Brown*, 190 Wn. App. at 590-593.

Since *Brown*, various Courts of Appeals have arrived at divergent conclusions about the extent to which *Brown* can or should be applied to the definition of neglect under the AVAA.

In Pal v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 2019 Wash.

App. LEXIS 489 (unpublished decision, March 5, 2019),

Division Two held that, "[g]iven former RCW 26.44.020(16)'s

¹ The same definition of "negligent treatment or maltreatment" is now at RCW 26.44.020(19).

nearly identical definition of 'negligent treatment,' it would have been reasonable for the Board to consider cases such as *Brown* in determining what qualifies as neglect as defined under RCW 74.34.020. Further, the AVAA is similar to the ACA in both structure and purpose. Indeed, courts have looked to relevant ACA jurisprudence as guidance on issues involving the AVAA." *Pal*, at *27-28 (citing *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wn.2d 532, 543-44, 374 P.3d 121 (2016)). In *Kim*, this Court held that the AVAA creates an implied cause action against mandated reporters who fail to report abuse, in part based on an analysis of multiple similarities between the AVAA and ACA. *See Kim*, 185 Wn.2d at 542-546.

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