FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/18/2025 1:25 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 103,983-2

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### AKBERET TEKLE,

Petitioner,

v.

### STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

NICHOLAS W. BROWN, Attorney General

JESSICA NICOLE BECKER Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 49537 PO Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 360-586-6565 Jessica.Becker@atg.wa.gov OID #91021

### **

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

# IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Ms. Tekle's petition for review should be denied because she has not met her burden to show this case meets the criteria for discretionary review. Ms. Tekle claims review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with other opinions of the Court of Appeals and because it presents a question of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court.

Contrary to Ms. Tekle's argument, neither condition recognized by RAP 13.4(b)(2) or (4) is present, and thus review is not justified. Appellant Mot. at 12-13, 24-25. First, the decision below is not in conflict with any published decision of the Court of Appeals. Ms. Tekle asserts that the Court of Appeals erred by applying the statutory definition of neglect to this case; however, Court of Appeals decisions since 2021 have recognized that the standard applied in *Woldemicael* and not *Brown* is the correct standard for in neglect cases involving the AVAA, chapter 74.34 RCW. *Woldemicael*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 182. *Brown*, 190 Wn. App. 572.

Second, this appeal is particularized and fact-based and does not involve any issue of substantial public interest warranting review by this Court as required by RAP 13.4(b)(4). Ms. Tekle argues a finding of neglect impacts not only Ms. Tekle, but "scores of vulnerable adults and caregivers alike" such that Supreme Court review is necessary. Appellant Mot. at 17. While the Department recognizes the consequences of an abuse finding are undoubtedly significant for Ms. Tekle, that individual impact does not create an issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review. Instead, finalization of the neglect finding would accomplish the result intended by the Legislature: because substantial evidence supports the Board's finding that Ms. Tekle neglected a vulnerable adult, she should

not have access to vulnerable adults in the future. Thus, review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because Ms. Tekle has failed to show a substantial issue of public interest.

Because Ms. Tekle has not satisfied any criteria under RAP 13.4(b), the Court should deny the petition for review.

### A. The Court of Appeals Opinion is Consistent with Other Court of Appeals Cases Involving the Interpretation of Neglect Under the AVAA

The Court of Appeals interpreted and applied the definition of "neglect" in this case consistent with other Court of Appeals decisions addressing neglect in the context of the AVAA. Under RCW 74.34.020(15)(b)<sup>2</sup>, "neglect" is "an act or omission by a person...with a duty of care that demonstrates a serious disregard of consequences of such a magnitude as to constitute a clear and present danger to the vulnerable adult's health, welfare, or safety..."

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Department's Response Brief and the Court of Appeals incorrectly cited to RCW 74.34.020(16).

Ms. Tekle argues that "neglect" should be construed narrowly, and that the Court of Appeals should have adopted the heightened standard under Brown, contending that "simple negligence is not enough." Appellant Mot. at 8. Brown, 190 Wn. App. 572. However, despite the similarities between the statutory definition of neglect of a vulnerable adult and the definition of neglect of a child applied in Brown, Brown has been clearly and consistently distinguished from cases involving vulnerable adults. Tekle, 2025 WL 522863; Woldemicael, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 182 (noting *Brown* is specific to child neglect cases). In so doing, courts have recognized that the relationship between a parent and minor child implicates the fundamental right to parent, whereas the relationship between a paid caregiver and a vulnerable adult within their care does not. Woldemicael 19 Wn. App. 2d at 182.

The Court of Appeals in this case simply reiterated *Woldemicael*'s holding that the heightened standard in *Brown*, stemming from the unique parent-child relationship, does not

17

apply to vulnerable adult cases. *Tekle*, 2025 WL 522863, at \*4 (citing *Woldemicael*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 180-83). Contrary to Ms. Tekle's contention, however, the Court in this case did not suggest that simple negligence is enough for a neglect finding. Instead, the Court reiterated *Woldemicael*'s holding that "serious disregard requires *more than simple negligence*" under the definition of neglect appliable to cases under the AVAA. *Tekle*, 2025 WL 522863, at \*4 (citing *Woldemicael*, 19 Wn. App. 2d at 182) (emphasis added). The court also emphasized that "hindsight may not be used to find neglect based solely on a bad outcome; the circumstances must be examined as a whole." *Id*.

Here, as the Court of Appeals held, the Board determined that Ms. Tekle's actions rose to the level of serious disregard because she should have known a substantial likelihood existed that Carl would try to elope if left alone for an extended period, and that could result in harmful consequences to Carl. *Id.* at 7. The Court of Appeals' conclusion that this rose to the level of neglect is entirely consistent with *Woldemicael*.

Ms. Tekle also argues that *Raven* necessitates Supreme Court review as an issue of first impression. Appellant Mot. at 17. Raven v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 177 Wn.2d 804, 306 P.3d 920 (2013). While *Raven* may have addressed an issue of first impression at the time it was published, *Woldemicael* has since settled the issue of the appropriate standard to use in administrative findings of neglect involving vulnerable adults and their caregivers. Raven, 177 Wn.2d 804. Woldemicael, 19 Wn. App. 2d 178. Moreover, Raven is distinguishable because the individual involved was a guardian, unlike Ms. Tekle, who is an adult family home owner and caregiver of vulnerable adults. Raven, 177 Wn.2d 804. Tekle, 2025 WL 522863. As recognized by the Court of Appeals, the Board noted in its final order that while Brown was helpful in defining "neglect," the heightened standard does not apply in vulnerable adult neglect cases, and the Board applied the correct standard when analyzing neglect in Ms. Tekle's case. *Tekle*, 2025 WL 522863.

Ms. Tekle asserts that two unpublished Court of Appeals decisions support her claim that her conduct did not rise to the level of serious disregard: *Yan v. Pleasant Day Adult Family Home, Inc., P.S.,* No. 68976-2-I, 2013 WL 6633440 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 16, 2013) and *Ocak v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv.,* No. 56862-4-II, 2023 WL 3591175 (Wash. Ct. App. May 23, 2023). These are unpublished opinions with no precedential value, and the Court of Appeals decision specifically addressed both cases in its opinion to explain why the facts of those cases were distinguishable. *Tekle*, 2025 WL 522863.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, in *Yan*, the adult family home provider was not informed about the vulnerable adult's exit seeking behavior or that the adult was recommended to be placed in a facility providing a higher level of care. *Yan*, 2013 WL 6633440, at \*2. Additionally, the provider explicitly told the resident's family they needed to find a new home for the resident after the resident repeatedly fell and eloped from the facility. *Id* at \*7. In *Ocak*, the provider was the mother of a vulnerable adult, she took numerous steps to prevent her son's elopement, and the court determined it would be against public policy to find family members accountable for neglect every time a developmentally delayed adult being cared for at home eloped. *Ocak*, 2023 WL 3591175, at \*10.

The Court of Appeals instead likened the facts of this case to those in *Kabbae*, where the court affirmed a finding of neglect after a caregiver at an adult family home left three vulnerable adults, who required 24-hour supervision, unattended for at least 20 minutes. Kabbae v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 144 Wn. App. 432, 192 P.3d 903 (2008). Tekle, 2025 WL 522863. As the Court of Appeals noted, despite knowing Carl suffered from dementia and had eloping tendencies, Ms. Tekle left him unattended long enough for him to exit the house in the dark, minimally clothed, in freezing temperatures, where he was alone for about 20 minutes. Tekle, 2025 WL 522863. Ms. Tekle should have known a substantial likelihood existed that Carl would try to elope if left alone for an extended period without effective systems in place to monitor his movements, and her conduct was in serious disregard of the potential, harmful consequences to Carl's health, safety, or welfare. *Id*.

Ms. Tekle argues that the fact that *Woldemicael* and the decision below did not discuss this Court's decision in *Kim*, suggests this Court should review the matter. *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wn.2d 532, 374 P.3d 121 (2016). *See* Appellant Mot. at 21-22. Ms. Tekle contends that it was error for the Court of Appeals not to "account for this Court's reasoning in *Kim*," which she argues "clearly supports the application of *Brown* to an AVAA neglect case." Appellant Mot. at 22.

However, *Kim* does not discuss *Brown*, let alone address the appropriate standard for neglect to be used in the AVAA context. Rather, *Kim* concerned whether the AVAA's mandatory reporting provision created an implied private cause of action for failure to report abuse. *Kim*, 185 Wn.2d at 542. In conducting that analysis, the Court was guided by its previous conclusion that the Abuse of Children Act (ACA), RCW 26.44, implies a

cause of action against mandatory reporters who fail to report suspected child abuse. Kim, 185 Wn.2d at 542-47. However, nothing about *Kim* suggests that each statutory provision in the AVAA must be construed identically to those in the ACA. Ms. Tekle also points to *Pal*, an unpublished decision issued prior to Woldemicael, but that case rejected a provider's argument that "the Board's failure to apply the standard of neglect articulated in Brown requires reversal." Pal v. State, No. 50660-2-II, 2019 WL 1048268, at \*10 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 5, 2019). The decision below is entirely consistent with Woldemicael and other published Court of Appeals cases holding that the neglect definition in the AVAA does not incorporate the heightened standard in the child abuse context set forth in Brown. Review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) is not warranted.

### B. The Application of RCW 74.34.020(15) in This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because the Court of Appeals properly applied the statutory definition of neglect of a vulnerable adult under RCW 74.34.020(15), APS lacks authority to modify the effects of a final finding under chapter 74.34 RCW, and Ms. Tekle has exercised her right to and has received adequate due process.

Ms. Tekle asserts this case presents an issue of substantial public interest because review will prevent unnecessary litigation and confusion in the future and a finding of neglect is professionally disqualifying for the individual involved. Appellant Mot. at 13. The analysis of neglect of a vulnerable adult used by the Court of Appeals' is consistent with prior case law interpreting this issue. Crosswhite v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 197 Wn. App. 539, 551, 389 P.3d 731 (2017); Brown v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 145 Wn. App. 177, 180-81, 185 P.3d 1210 (2008). As discussed above, the decision of the Court of Appeals in this case is unpublished, it is fact-specific, and it analyzes the correct standard for neglect cases involving vulnerable adults and paid caregivers. Therefore, it will not lead to unnecessary litigation and confusion and does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Second, currently, nothing in statute specifically authorizes APS to limit the effects a final finding under chapter 74.34 RCW has on Ms. Tekle, or any person who is placed on it. APS has asked the Legislature on multiple occasions to create such a process as the Legislature did for individuals with final findings of child neglect following the Washington Supreme Court's decision in Fields, or to specifically authorize the Department to promulgate rules establishing how and when the effects of a final finding should expire, the Legislature has not seen fit to do so. Fields v. Dept. of Early Learning, 193 Wn.2d 36, 434 P.3d 999 (2019). Although this Court held in Romero that RCW 74.39A.056(3) authorizes the Department to remove individuals from the vulnerable adult abuse registry, Division I held, much more broadly, in *Garcia*, that even a database containing prior agency decisions constitutes a "registry" under RCW 74.39A.056(2), and that provider

employment bans created in RCW 74.39A.056(2) are required by statute, not Department regulation, are permanent, and require legislative action to change. Garcia v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Serv., 10 Wn.App.2d 885, 451 P.3d 1107 (2019); Romero v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Serv., 30 Wn.App.2d 323, 544 P.3d 1083 (2024). According to Matter of Arnold, "one division [of the Court of Appeals] is not bound by the decision of another division" and "[s]tatewide agencies and other entities cannot choose to ignore a published judicial decision." Matter of *Arnold*, 190 Wn.2d 136, 154, 410 P.3d 1133 (2018). Thus as APS understands Garcia, even if it removes a person from the APS registry, that would not alleviate the requirements of RCW 74.39A.056(2), and APS has no authority to limit the effect of that statute. Insofar as Ms. Tekle does not believe a neglect finding should be the basis for permanent placement on the registry in the vulnerable adult context as required by RCW 74.39A.056(2), that argument is best left to the Legislature.

Third, Ms. Tekle received all the process she was due: she received notice of the neglect finding and requested an administrative hearing. At the administrative hearing, she was represented by counsel, she called and cross-examined witnesses, presented documentary evidence, and testified herself. After the hearing, Ms. Tekle, through counsel, appealed the initial order to the Board and successfully sought and obtained review by the Court of Appeals.

Ms. Tekle points to the consequences of her placement on the Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry, which would prevent her from unsupervised access to vulnerable adults or children in the future. Appellant Mot. at 13-14. Although permanent placement on a vulnerable adult registry limits Ms. Tekle's future opportunities in her chosen career, she had access to and used significant procedural protections before the neglect finding became final. While the Department recognizes the significant consequences for Ms. Tekle, placement on the Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry is the result intended by the Legislature in cases such as these: because substantial evidence supported the Board's finding that Ms. Tekle neglected a vulnerable adult, she should not have access to vulnerable adults in the future to ensure their safety from harmful actions such as abuse or neglect at the hands of their caregivers. *See* RCW 74.39A.056(2).

The petition for review should be denied because the decision of the Court of Appeals amounts to an individualized analysis of neglect of a vulnerable adult, which is specific to Ms. Tekle's individual interest as a paid caregiver and provides no significant issue of substantial public interest that this Court should decide. Ms. Tekle has failed to meet her burden to show review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny Ms. Tekle's petition for discretionary review because she has failed to satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). The decision below does not conflict with other published Court of Appeals decisions involving the definition of neglect under RCW 74.34.020(15)(b), and the Court of Appeals undertook a thorough, fact-specific analysis of the Board's decision that does not raise a question of substantial public interest requiring Supreme Court determination.

This document contains 4,872 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.